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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

HOUSTON DIVISION 

 

MARIELA GARCIA, §  

 

Plaintiff,                                                    

§ 

§ 

 

 §  

v. § CIVIL ACTION NO.: 4:19-cv-2565 

 §  

AMED HOSPICE, 

 

Defendant. 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

 

 

 

 

JURY DEMANDED 

 

  §  

              

 

 PLAINTIFF’S ORIGINAL COMPLAINT 

         

 

 

TO THE HONORABLE U.S. DISTRICT COURT JUDGE:  

 NOW COMES Mariela Garcia (“Plaintiff and/or Ms. Garcia”) in the above-styled cause 

complaining of and about AMED Hospice. (“Defendant and/or AMED”) and for cause of action 

files this, her Plaintiff’s Original Complaint, showing to the Court the following:  
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I. PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff MARIELA GARCIA is an individual residing in Houston, Harris County, 

Texas. Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and the State of Texas.  

2. Defendant AMED Hospice is conducting business in Texas City, Harris County, 

Texas. Defendant may be served with process via Certified Mail Return Receipt Requested 

through its registered agent, AMED Hospice, 8901 Emmetts Lowry Expressway, Ste. A 

Texas City, TX 77591, USA. 

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE  

3. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, as Plaintiff’s causes of 

action arise under federal statutes the Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 42 

U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1). 

4. Additionally, this Court has supplemental jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367 

over Plaintiff’s stated claims arising under the Texas Commission on Human Rights Act 

(“TCHRA”), Texas Labor Code §21.051, et seq., because such claims are so related to the claims 

within the Court’s original jurisdiction that they form part of the same case or controversy under 

Article 3 of the United States Constitution.  

5. Venue is proper in the Southern District of Texas, Houston Division pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1391(b) and 29 U.S.C. § 626, because this is the judicial district in which all or a 

substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claim occurred. 
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III. NATURE OF THE ACTION 

6. This is an action against Defendant pursuant to Disability Discrimination and Title 

VII of the Civil Rights Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1). 

7. U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a); and the Texas Commission on Human Rights Act 

(“TCHRA”), Texas Labor Code §21.051, et seq. on the grounds that Plaintiff was discriminated 

against because of her disability and retaliated against complaining to Defendant and the EEOC 

about disability discrimination. 

IV. EXHAUSTION OF ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES 

8. On April 13, 2019, Plaintiff filed a charge of discrimination based on disability 

discrimination and retaliation with the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission; Charge 

No. 460-2010-01849. Subsequently, on April 17, 2019 the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity 

Commission (“EEOC”) issued Plaintiff her Notice of Right Sue. Plaintiff files this lawsuit within 

ninety (90) days of receiving his Notice of Right to Sue and his lawsuit is, therefore, timely filed.    

V. FACTS 

9. Plaintiff began working for AMED in June of 2010 as a CNA. Despite her disability 

Plaintiff was a loyal and hard working employee with no history of disciplinary actions. At the 

time of Plaintiff’s termination, key witnesses and individuals who engaged in, or were witnesses 
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to, the events detailed below included Administrator Joe Hinojosa, Assistant Administrator 

Dominique Kramer, HR Director Patti Weekly, Supervisor Margie Foster, and others. 

10. On September 7, 2018, Plaintiff was traveling from one patient’s location to another 

when Plaintiff’s vehicle was struck by another vehicle. Because of the collision, Plaintiff was taken 

to the hospital for injuries which Plaintiff suffered to her neck and back, as well as injuries that 

caused pain in her legs, shoulders and arms. At the hospital, the accident was treated as a Workers 

Compensation injury. 

11. Because of Plaintiff’s injuries, Plaintiff was not allowed to work for approximately 

three weeks. Nonetheless, AMED’s HR employees called and emailed Plaintiff several times 

during this period asking Plaintiff when she would be able to return to work. As Plaintiff explained 

each time, Plaintiff was waiting for the doctor to release her back to work. 

12. After 3-weeks, Plaintiff was released to work light duty -sometime during October 

of 2018. Once Plaintiff returned to work, several employees, including her Supervisor, Ms. Foster, 

began harassing Plaintiff about being on light duty and about having to go to Plaintiff’s therapy 

sessions. Comments made included allegations that Plaintiff was just “panicked” about the 

accident and not really injured, statements that the staff wanted someone who was going to be able 

to assist out in the field not just someone at the office, and general complaints about Plaintiff 

having to leave for her scheduled therapy sessions. Plaintiff, having never been treated in such a 

manner, felt that Plaintiff’s supervisor and others were upset about her having filed a worker’s 
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compensation claim. During this initial period of light duty, Plaintiff was assigned to the medical 

records area where Plaintiff assisted with tasks that were aligned with her light duty restrictions. 

However, in November of 2018, Ms. Foster approached Plaintiff and informed her that she was 

being put back out into the field. When Plaintiff objected on the basis that Plaintiff had not been 

released to full duty and on the fact that she still had severe pain in her neck and back, Ms. Foster 

explained that Plaintiff would have to talk to Assistant Administrator Dominique Kramer. When 

Ms. Foster escorted Plaintiff to Ms. Kramer’s office, Ms. Kramer informed Plaintiff  that they 

needed Plaintiff out in the field. Again, Plaintiff relayed the fact that she had not been released to 

full duty and that she was still in pain (even opening and closing cabinets was causing her pain). 

However, Ms. Kramer informed Plaintiff that she was being assigned to help another CNA at a 

facility with which Plaintiff was already familiar and that all she would be doing was feeding 

patients and performing other tasks that did not involve lifting patients. Despite Ms. Kramer’s 

claims, because Plaintiff was already familiar with the facility where she was to be assigned, she 

knew it would not be possible for her to avoid further injury. The facility to which Ms. Kramer 

was assigning Plaintiff had a high number of residents who suffered from dementia, schizophrenia, 

Alzheimer’s, and other conditions that many times lead to patients having violent outbursts. Any 

such outburst could cause Plaintiff further injury and set back Plaintiff’s recovery. Moreover, 

Plaintiff was given a form to sign that stated she was willingly releasing AMED from any liability 

for any further injuries she might suffer on the job. Not only did Plaintiff refuse to sign the release, 
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Plaintiff explained the working conditions at the facility and why it would only be a matter of time 

before an incident occurred that would exacerbate Plaintiff’s injuries. As such, Plaintiff was 

directed to the HR department. 

13. Ms. Foster escorted Plaintiff to HR Director Patti Weekly’s office where Ms. Foster 

told Ms. Weekly, “Dominique wants her back in the field,” and then told another HR employee to 

make sure two witnesses also signed off on the liability release form they had given to Plaintiff to 

sign. Feeling like Plaintiff was being forced into a situation that would worsen her condition, 

Plaintiff began to cry. Not only was Plaintiff in pain, but AMED was intentionally putting her in 

harm’s way. Feeling like Plaintiff’s rights were being violated, Plaintiff told Ms. Weekly that she 

was going to have to get a lawyer. Suddenly, Ms. Weekly’s attitude changed; stating that they 

could find for light duty work for Plaintiff in the administrative office of AMED. 

14. Because of Plaintiff’s threat of seeking legal representation, Plaintiff was allowed 

to continue her light duty assignment as intended by her physicians. Unfortunately, Plaintiff would 

now be working more closely with Ms. Foster who had already been harassing Plaintiff about 

Plaintiff’s medical leave, not being in the field, and Plaintiff’s frequent therapy sessions. 

15. Over the next few months, as Plaintiff worked in the administrative offices, Ms. 

Foster continued her campaign of harassment and increased scrutiny. If Plaintiff asked to use the 

restroom, Ms. Foster would always tell Plaintiff, “Just so long as you hurry.” When Plaintiff went 
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on her scheduled breaks on lunch, Ms. Foster would monitor Plaintiff’s return down to the minute. 

Ms. Foster did not do this to anyone else she supervised. 

16. During this time, Ms. Foster began making comments about Plaintiff’s disability 

telling her, “I don’t know why you don’t just go on long-term disability.” At other times, Ms. 

Foster would ridicule Plaintiff in front of other employees about what Plaintiff would eat, saying 

things such as, “She’s got diabetes and doesn’t even know how to eat right.” It was because of Ms. 

Foster’s comments that many employees discovered that Plaintiff had diabetes without her ever 

wanting others to know. 

17. During the 2018 Christmas party, AMED employees had a potluck where 

employees brought food for everyone to eat. After Plaintiff had served her plate, and in the 

presence of other employees, Ms. Foster asked Plaintiff, “With your diabetes, are you sure you 

should be eating so much?” It was clear that this was not comment of genuine concern for Plaintiff 

as Ms. Foster chuckled after she said it which prompted other employees to make similar remarks 

about Plaintiff’s diet while laughing amongst themselves. 

18. In early January 2019, Ms. Foster’s constant harassment of Plaintiff reached a new 

level. As Plaintiff was searching for something in a file cabinet, Ms. Foster came up behind 

Plaintiff and said “Move!” – pushing Plaintiff out of her way as she herself went into the file 

cabinet. Ms. Foster continued, telling Plaintiff “I’m so sick of you being here!” When Plaintiff 

tried to figure out why Ms. Foster was so upset, Ms. Foster became increasingly angry, raising her 
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voice and stating, “I’m going to talk to Walter… I’m tired of you!” The more Plaintiff tried to 

calm Ms. Foster down, the louder Ms. Foster became until finally, HR Director Ms. Weekly came 

out of her office asking why Ms. Foster was so upset. Ms. Foster told Ms. Weekly that she was 

tired of Plaintiff having to be with her and that she wanted Plaintiff placed with someone else. 

Apparently, it appeared that Ms. Foster was upset about Plaintiff being on light duty and was tired 

of having to deal with the situation. Although Ms. Weekly reported this to Owner Walt Crowder, 

Ms. Weekly came back saying that Mr. Crowder did not want to get involved. As such, Ms. Weekly 

escorted Plaintiff and Ms. Foster to Ms. Kramer’s office. Plaintiff explained to Ms. Kramer what 

Plaintiff had been experiencing and Ms. Foster told Ms. Kramer that she wanted Plaintiff assigned 

to someone else. Rather than address Ms. Foster’s inappropriate actions, Ms. Kramer simply 

limited the interactions between Ms. Foster and Plaintiff, having Ms. Foster provide directives to 

Plaintiff through another employee. 

19. A couple of weeks later, on January 31, 2019, Plaintiff had a question about a 

patient’s records and went to the office of Monica Esparza, another CNA. As Plaintiff was walking 

into Ms. Esparza’s office, the door was forcibly shoved back into Plaintiff’s face hurting her neck 

and back. When Plaintiff tried to see who was on the other side of the door, Plaintiff realized it 

was CNA Annette Collins. When Plaintiff advised Ms. Collins that she had hurt Plaintiff by 

shoving the door against Plaintiff, Ms. Collins became angry, saying “And I’ll do it again – Now 

get out of here!” and shoved the door against Plaintiff again; causing further pain. Ever since 
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Plaintiff was injured at work, Ms. Esparza and Ms. Collins had been harassing Plaintiff about not 

pulling her weight due to having to go to therapy so often. Although these comments were made 

in the presence of Ms. Foster, neither Ms. Esparza nor Ms. Collins were ever counselled about 

their behavior. On the contrary, it appeared that Ms. Forbes’ own behavior towards Plaintiff since 

Plaintiff’s injury simply emboldened other employees like Ms. Collins to mistreat Plaintiff. 

20. After Ms. Collins hit Plaintiff with the door (part of Plaintiff’s upper torso was 

already through the door when Ms. Collins slammed the door against her a second time), Plaintiff 

went to sit in the office since her neck and back pain were flaring up. As Plaintiff waited for the 

pain to subside, Ms. Collins entered the office and noticed Plaintiff sitting and holding her neck. 

Ms. Collins then started chuckling and stated that she could not believe Plaintiff was claiming to 

be in so much pain. Plaintiff, upset, in pain, and humiliated, told Ms. Collins to leave her alone or 

Plaintiff would call the police for what Ms. Collins had done. Rather than show any concern, Ms. 

Collins began laughing at Plaintiff and merely walked away. 

21. The following morning, on February 1, 2019, Plaintiff woke up with increased pain 

which she attributed to Ms. Collins’ actions. As such, upon arriving at work, Plaintiff informed 

Ms. Kramer what had happened and asked Ms. Kramer to tell Ms. Collins to leave her alone. Ms. 

Kramer instructed Plaintiff to go to HR so that they could send Plaintiff to the doctor and then told 

Plaintiff that she would have a discussion with Ms. Esparza and Ms. Collins. 
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22. Incidentally, Plaintiff was informed by the doctors treating her for the September 

2018 on-the-job injury that she was going to be released to full duty. However, the doctor to whom 

Plaintiff was sent for the incident involving Ms. Collins sent Plaintiff home and told her to stay 

home from work until Plaintiff returned to the doctor on the 7th of February 2019. As this incident 

incurred on the job, this was to be another workers compensation claim. In the meantime, Plaintiff 

texted Administrator Joe Hinojosa about what had happened, but rather than address the issue, he 

texted back telling Plaintiff to let Ms. Kramer know what happened because he did not want to get 

involved. When Plaintiff called Ms. Kramer to tell her what Mr. Hinojosa had said and to tell her 

about the doctor wanting her to stay out of work until February 7th. Ms. Kramer stated that they 

were probably going to have to let Plaintiff “go.” 

23. After returning to the doctor on February 7, 2019, Plaintiff was again released on 

light duty as a result of the on-the-job injury caused by Ms. Collins. When Plaintiff brought the 

documentation to Mr. Hinojosa, he became irate. Mr. Hinojosa began calling Plaintiff a liar. As 

Plaintiff tried to defend herself against his accusations, Mr. Hinojosa became more upset - yelling 

louder; finally stating “I’m letting you go. Get out of here!” When Plaintiff stated she would be 

seeking an attorney, Mr. Hinojosa started walking toward Plaintiff very fast and aggressively, 

forcing Plaintiff to step back and told her, “Go ahead! I’ll sue you too!” By this point, several 

people had come out of their offices to see what was happening. Afraid of what Mr. Hinojosa 

would do, Plaintiff continued to back away, working her way to the exit and leaving the building. 
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24. There is simply no doubt that Plaintiff was unlawfully discriminated and retaliated 

against in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (“Title VII”), Americans with 

Disabilities Act of 1990 and the Texas labor Code. 

VI. CAUSES OF ACTION 

COUNT 1: DISABILITY DISCRIMINATION AND RETALIATION IN VIOLATION OF 

CHAPTER 21 OF THE TEXAS LABOR CODE  

25. Plaintiff incorporates the preceding paragraphs by reference.   

The aforementioned conduct by Defendants constitutes violations of II, Chapter 21, of the 

Texas Labor Code (the Texas Commission on Human Rights Act).  See Tex. Lab. Code 

§21.001 et seq.  Specifically, Defendants have discriminated against Plaintiff because of 

her disabilities and retaliated against Plaintiff in response to her complaints of 

discrimination in violation of §§ 21.051 and 21.055 of the Texas Labor Code. More 

specifically, and without waiting any cause of action listed above, the conduct described 

herein created a hostile work environment under Texas law.   

26. In further violation of Chapter 21 of the Texas Labor Code, Plaintiff’s disabilities 

were a motivating factor in the decision to terminate her.  In the alternative, Defendants regarded 

Plaintiff as disabled and was motivated to terminate Plaintiff based on that assumption. 

27. Defendants failed to accommodate Plaintiff’s disabilities and/or otherwise engage 

in an interactive process.   

COUNT 2: WORKER’S COMPENSATION RETALIATION 
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28. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the foregoing allegations in each of the 

paragraphs above as if fully set forth herein. 

29. Defendant intentionally retaliated against Plaintiff because she complained to 

Defendants and the EEOC about disability discrimination, in violation of Chapter 451 of the Texas 

Labor Code. 

VII. JURY DEMAND 
 

30. Plaintiff demands a jury on all issues to be tried in this matter. Plaintiff has 

submitted the jury demand and herein submits the jury fee.  

VIII. PRAYER 

31. WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONSIDERED, Plaintiff prays that Defendant be 

cited to appear and answer herein, and that on final trial, Plaintiff have judgment against Defendant 

for: 

a. All damages to which Plaintiff may be entitled pursuant to this Original Complaint, 

or an amendment thereto, including but not limited to back pay, future wages, 

reinstatement, upgrading, and compensation for benefits not received; 

b. Past, present, and future physical pain and mental suffering; 

 

c. Compensatory damages, including, but not limited to, emotional distress;  
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d. Punitive damages in an amount above the minimum jurisdictional limits of the 

Court;  

 

e. Reasonable attorneys’ fees as allowed by law (with conditional awards in the event 

of appeal); 

 

f. Pre-judgment interest at the highest rate permitted by law; 

 

g. Post-judgment interest from the judgment until paid at the highest rate permitted by 

law; 

 

h. Costs of Court; and 

 

i. Such other and further relief, at law or in equity, to which Plaintiff may be entitled, 

whether by this Original Complaint or by proper amendment thereto. 

 

Respectfully submitted,  

 

 

 

By:   

Alfonso Kennard, Jr. 

Texas Bar No. 24036888 

Southern District No. 713316  

2603 Augusta Drive, Suite 1450 

Houston, Texas 77057    

(713) 742-0900 (main) 

(713) 742-0951 (facsimile) 

Email: alfonso.kennard@kennardlaw.com  

 

ATTORNEY-IN-CHARGE FOR PLAINTIFF 
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